I. Identity Of Petitioner. 

Robert Speed was plaintiff below and appellant in the Court 

of Appeals. 

II. Court Of Appeals Decision. 

Mr. Speed seeks review of the Court of Appeals published 

opinion of January 28, 2014, affirming the trial court's dismissal of 

his claim that respondent United Services Automobile Association 

breached its duty to defend under its homeowner's and automobile 

liability policies. United Services Auto. Ass'n v. Speed,_ Wn. App. 

_, 317 P.3d 532 (2014) (App. A). 

III. Issue Presented For Review. 

Can an insurer's failure to defend a claim or explore 

settlement after telling its insured that it will handle the tendered 

claim under a reservation of rights be excused by a court finding 

years later that there was no indemnity coverage for the claim? 

IV. Statement Of The Case. 

A. USAA agreed to handle a claim against Dr. 
Geyer under a reservation of rights while 
investigating coverage. 

In 2009, Dennis J. Geyer, M.D. was a neurosurgeon who was 

on active duty in the U.S. Army. (CP 322) On March 2, 2009, Dr. 

Geyer was returning home from Madigan Hospital when he 
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narrowly avoided losing control of his car after being cut off by 

petitioner Robert Speed. (Op. ~ 2; CP 322-23) Dr. Geyer followed 

Mr. Speed intending to obtain information to report the incident. 

(CP 323) 

A confrontation ensued between Mr. Speed and Dr. Geyer. 

(Op. ~~ 1-2) Dr. Geyer struck Mr. Speed and returned to his vehicle. 

(Op. ~ 2; CP 324) The blow left Mr. Speed stunned and leaning 

against his car. (CP 324, 488-89) After Dr. Geyer got into his own 

vehicle to leave he saw Mr. Speed fall to the ground and strike his 

head on the pavement. (CP 324, 489-90) Mr. Speed was seriously 

injured in the incident. (Op. ~ 2; CP 487-90) Dr. Geyer was 

charged with felony assault. (Op. ~ 2; CP 323) 

In August 2009, Mr. Speed sent a written claim for bodily 

injury and an offer of settlement to Dr. Geyer. (Op. ~ 2; CP 369-76) 

Anticipating that Dr. Geyer's insurer would resist coverage based 

upon his allegation that Dr. Geyer "beat Mr. Speed," Mr. Speed's 

demand asserted that as a neurosurgeon, "Dr. Geyer has the ability 

to borrow money." (CP 371, 375) Mr. Speed sought $650,000 and 

offered to "recommend to the prosecutor that Dr. Geyer be allowed 

to plead to a misdemeanor assault charge." (Op. ~ 2; CP 375) 
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Dr. Geyer tendered the claim to USAA on October 14, 2009. 

(Op. ~ 3; CP 385) Dr. Geyer's version of what happened differed 

from the version contained in Mr. Speed's August 2009 settlement 

demand letter, which USAA received on October 28, 2009. (Op. ~ 

3; CP 389) On October 15, Dr. Geyer suggested to USAA's adjuster 

in a recorded statement that he had acted in self defense in the 

altercation with Mr. Speed. (Op. ~ 3; CP 529-530) Dr. Geyer 

expressly stated that he acted in self defense in a phone 

conversation with the adjuster on November 3. (CP 386 at p. 26-

29) 

USAA's duty to provide a defense to Dr. Geyer upon tender 

of Mr. Speed's claim is not in dispute. (Op. ~ 18) Dr. Geyer was 

insured under two policies with USAA, a homeowner's policy with 

$500,000 in liability limits (Op. ~ 3; CP 420), and an automobile 

policy with $300,000 in liability limits. (Op. ~ 3; CP 422) Both the 

homeowner's and auto policies required USAA to provide a defense 
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to Dr. Geyer for a "claim" as well as a "suit."1 (Op. ~ 18) As the 

Court of Appeals noted, "in this case USAA's homeowners and auto 

policies both provided that USAA' s duty to defend arose not only 

when a 'suit' was brought against the insured, but also when any 

'claim' was made for damages arising from acts covered under the 

policies. USAA ... concedes on appeal that the language in these 

policies triggered a duty to defend when Speed asserted a claim." 

(Op. ~ 18) 

Having received different versions of the incident from Mr. 

Speed and its insured, USAA was uncertain as to whether there was 

1 The homeowner's policy stated: 

If a claim is made or a suit is brought against an 
insured ... we will: 

1. pay up to our limit of liability ... and 

2. provide a defense at our expense by counsel of 
our choice, even if the suit is groundless, false or 
fraudulent... Our duty to settle or defend ends when 
the amount we pay or tender for damages resulting from 
the occurrence equals our limit of liability, so long as such 
payment or tender represents and protects the interests of 
the insured. 

(CP 546) (emphasis added). The auto policy provided: 

We will settle or defend, as we consider appropriate, 
any claim or suit asking for these damages. Our duty 
to settle or defend ends when our limit of liability for 
these coverages has been exhausted by payment of 
judgments or settlements. 

(CP 553) (emphasis added) 
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coverage for Dr. Geyer under his homeowner's or auto policies. 

(Op. ~~ 4-5) On October 19, 2009, USAA notified Dr. Geyer that 

because there were "potential coverage issues under your 

automobile and homeowner's policies," it would investigate the 

claim while reserving its right to deny coverage. (Op. ~ 4; CP 412, 

417-18) In its reservation of rights letter to Dr. Geyer, USAA stated 

that it would investigate Mr. Speed's claim, explore settlement and 

defend Dr. Geyer pending a coverage determination: 

Please be advised that USAA's willingness to 
investigate, settle, or defend you in any way, in the 
above referenced matter, is based solely on the 
condition that USAA is fully reserving all of its rights 
to: deny coverage; have coverage judicially 
determined at an appropriate time; withdraw from 
providing any type of defense assistance at any time; 
and to recover its defense expenditures, if allowable 
by the laws in your state, once coverage is determined. 

(CP 417) 

In two letters dated October 26, 2009 (one for each policy), 

USAA advised Dr. Geyer that Mr. Speed's claim was likely to exceed 

his insurance coverages and noted: "If a lawyer is needed to 

defend you, we will hire one." (CP 420, 422) (emphasis added) 

USAA did not thereafter deny coverage. According to its adjuster, 

USAA's practice is to "look for coverage when we can possibly find it 

for our insureds." (CP 391 at p. 47) 
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B. USAA failed to provide a defense or explore 
settlement when it had the opportunity to 
protect Dr. Geyer from a felony conviction. 

As the Court of Appeals noted, "USAA did not retain counsel 

to defend Geyer at this time and did not advise Geyer whether or 

not it believed that it had a duty to defend Speed's claim. USAA 

apparently assumed that it had no duty to defend until a lawsuit 

was filed." (Op. ~ 5) 

Although Mr. Speed had expressed a willingness to urge the 

prosecutor to drop felony assault charges against Dr. Geyer as part 

of a settlement, USAA did not have its adjusters explore settlement 

with Mr. Speed during the months leading up to his criminal trial. 

(Op. ~ 6) It is undisputed that USAA did not respond to Mr. Speed's 

August, 2009 settlement demand letter. (CP 408-09 at p. 116-17) 

On February 8, 2010, Dr. Geyer was found not guilty of 

assault in the second degree, but guilty of the lesser felony of assault 

in the third degree, which requires a finding of criminal negligence, 

rather than criminal intent. (Op. ~ 6; CP 67, 517) See RCW 

9A.36.031(d),(f). The cost of defending the criminal charge 

depleted Dr. Geyer's savings and the felony conviction jeopardized 

his ability to practice medicine as a neurosurgeon. (CP 405 at 105, 

444-47, 611-13) 
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Following Dr. Geyer's conviction on April 13, 2010, Mr. 

Speed's attorney sent a second settlement offer of $8oo,ooo, 

accusing USAA of bad faith in refusing to previously respond to Mr. 

Speed's initial demand. (Op. ~ 7; CP 611-13) USAA advised Dr. 

Geyer that "coverage is still questionable," but that it was not finally 

denying "all policy benefits which might be available to you." (Op. ~ 

7; CP 81) On May 20, 2010, USAA's adjuster received authority 

from her manager to make a $50,000 offer "to attempt resolution." 

(CP 874) USAA offered Mr. Speed $25,000, emphasizing that 

"there is a question of coverage for this loss." (CP 897) 

On January 20, 2011, Dr. Geyer settled with Mr. Speed at a 

mediation where Dr. Geyer was represented by privately retained 

counsel and USAA had a lawyer represent its own interests. (Op. ~ 

8; CP 390 at pp. 44-45) Dr. Geyer agreed to entry of a $1.4 million 

judgment in exchange for Mr. Speed's covenant not to execute, and 

assigned his claims against USAA to Mr. Speed. (Op. ~ 8) 

On Feb. 8, 2011, Mr. Speed filed a lawsuit against Dr. Geyer 

in order to have their settlement approved by the court. (Op. ~ 10; 

CP 4-5) It was only then that USAA provided Dr. Geyer with a 

lawyer to defend the lawsuit. (Op. ~ 10; CP 390 at p. 45) Over the 
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objection of USAA, the superior court found that the $1.4 million 

settlement was reasonable. (CP 336) 

C. In a published decision, the Court of Appeals 
absolved USAA of its failure to defend Dr. 
Geyer based upon the subsequent 
determination that the claim fell outside the 
scope ofUSAA's indemnity coverage. 

USAA did not request a coverage opinion from an attorney 

until after Dr. Geyer was convicted of a felony assault. (Op. ~ 6) In 

May 2010, that attorney told USAA that he did not believe there 

was coverage under the policy but that, under Washington Supreme 

Court decisions, " ... the safest course of action is to defend under a 

reservation of rights regardless of what the law appears to be, file a 

declaratory action, and have a judge determine whether a duty to 

defend exists." (Op. ~ 6; CP 624) However, USAA did not file its 

declaratory judgment action until 2011, after Dr. Geyer and Mr. 

Speed had reached their settlement agreement. (CP 6) In a 

counterclaim, Mr. Speed asserted Dr. Geyer's assigned claims 

against USAA for bad faith. (CP 326-30) 

The trial court denied summary judgment to Mr. Speed on 

his claim that USAA breached its duty to defend, holding that the 

duty to defend was "subordinate to the issue as to finding that there 

is policy coverage under the facts of this case." (CP 630) It then 
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granted USAA summary judgment, holding that there was no 

coverage for Mr. Speed's claim, and that USAA owed Dr. Geyer no 

duty to defend him under its automobile and homeowner liability 

policies. (CP 917-21) 

Division Two affirmed in a published decision. United 

Services Auto. Ass'n v. Speed, _ Wn. App. _, 317 P.3d 532 

(2014). While recognizing that the duty to defend was broader than 

the duty to indemnify, the court held that Mr. Speed's claim did not 

trigger a duty to defend because his demand letter "unambiguously 

described Geyer's conduct as deliberate" and did not constitute an 

"accident." (Op. ~~ 33, 36, 39) 

The court held that USAA had no duty to defend, 

notwithstanding its uncertainty reflected in its reservation of rights 

letter and other correspondence with its insured, because the 

"existence of a duty to defend is a question of law for the court, 

based solely on the claim allegations" and not based on the 

"insurer's subjective uncertainty regarding coverage:" 

We reject the argument that an insurer's subjective 
uncertainty regarding coverage can trump the court's 
legal determination that no duty to defend exists 
based on the claim allegations and the policy 
language. We hold that USAA's statements indicating 
"uncertainty" regarding coverage have no bearing on 
our holding that USAA had no duty to defend Speed's 
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claim as a matter of law based on the claim allegations 
and USAA's policy language. 

(Op. ~~ 41, 43) 

V. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted. 

A. The Court of Appeals published decision 
undermines this Court's consistent precedent 
requiring an insurer to provide a defense 
when it is uncertain about indemnity 
coverage, and allows an insurer to avoid its 
defense obligations based on a finding years 
later that no indemnity coverage exists. 

An insurer's duty to vigorously defend its insured once it 

undertakes to handle a claim under a reservation of rights cannot 

turn on a coverage determination made years later. Having 

acknowledged its willingness to "investigate, settle, or defend" Dr. 

Geyer while reserving the right to deny coverage, and having 

delayed in obtaining a judicial determination that the claim was not 

covered, USAA had the obligation to do more than investigate 

whether the claim was covered under its liability policy. See Tank 

v. State Farm, Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 388, 715 P.2d 1133 

(1986). Its obligation here included the duty to provide its insured 

Dr. Geyer with defense counsel and to attempt to settle Mr. Speed's 

claim on terms that would protect Dr. Geyer. Moratti ex rel. 

Tarutis v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 162 Wn. App. 495, 503, 

~ 11, 254 P.3d 939 (2011), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1022, cert. 
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denied, 133 S.Ct. 198 (2012). Once the duty to defend has been 

triggered, a subsequent determination that there was no indemnity 

coverage does not excuse an insurer's failure to provide a good faith 

defense under a reservation of rights. See National Surety Corp. v. 

Immunex, 176 Wn.2d 872, 878-88, ~~ 9-33, 297 P.3d 688 (2013). 

This Court has consistently and scrupulously protected an 

insured's right to a defense, not just as a matter of contract 

interpretation, but as a matter of public policy. The Court of 

Appeals correctly recognized that USAA's obligations were triggered 

when USAA received Mr. Speed's "claim," but its holding that USAA 

had no obligation to provide a defense to Dr. Geyer after it accepted 

its insured's tender under a reservation of rights conflicts with 

established precedent. RAP 13-4(b)(1), (2). This Court should 

accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and hold that USAA 

had a good faith duty to defend its insured against a claim, as it 

policies required, until the indemnity coverage issue was resolved. 
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1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts 
with Tank, Woo, and National Surety, 
because an insurer that undertakes the 
handling of a claim under a reservation 
of rights must vigorously defend its 
insured. 

Since Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 

715 P.2d 1133 (1986), this Court has consistently held that where, as 

here, coverage is uncertain, an insurer must defend its insured 

under a reservation of rights. The insurer may seek a prompt 

determination of coverage by filing a declaratory judgment action, 

but must vigorously defend its insured while that determination is 

pending and, while doing so, may not put its own interests above 

those of its insured. See National Surety Corp. v. Immunex, 176 

Wn.2d 872, 878-88, ~~ 9-33, 297 P.3d 688 (2013); Woo v. 

Firemen's Fund Ins. Co., 161 Wn.2d 43, 54, ~ 16, 164 P.3d 454 

(2007). See also American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd., 

168 Wn.2d 398, 405, ~ 16, 229 P.3d 693 (2010) (insurer must 

"defend until it is clear that the claim is not covered."). 

While the Court of Appeals correctly noted that USAA's 

adjusters repeatedly stated their "uncertainty" regarding coverage, 
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(Op. at~ 40), 2 that subjective uncertainty about coverage is not the 

sole basis for Dr. Geyer's bad faith claim. USAA's "uncertainty" 

motivated USAA to affirmatively represent to Dr. Geyer that it was 

willing to "investigate, settle or defend . . . on the condition that 

USAA is fully reserving all of its rights to: deny coverage ... " in its 

October 19 letter, but USAA failed to recognize that, under its 

policy, its duty was triggered upon receipt of Dr. Geyer's "claim." 

(CP 417) Once USAA undertook the handling of Mr. Speed's claim 

against Dr. Geyer under a reservation of rights it had the obligation 

to do so competently and in good faith, even if, as in Tank, as in 

Woo, and as in Alea, the underlying allegations of assault made 

coverage "uncertain." 

USAA's obligation to provide its insured with the defense 

promised by its policies came with "unquestionable benefits" to 

USAA, because an insurer that fulfills its duty to defend under a 

reservation of rights may avoid the "potentially disastrous findings 

2 See CP 383 at p. 16 (USAA adjusters in May 2009 "were not sure 
there would be coverage under the homeowner's policy or coverage under 
the auto policy while we were investigating"); CP 391 at p. 47 (USAA 
"look[s] for coverage when we can possibly find it for our insureds."); CP 
870 ("[c]overage is being investigated" in December 2009); CP 874 
(adjuster notes that as of May 2010, "there are still pending [coverage] 
issues"). 
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of breach, bad faith, waiver, and coverage by estoppel." National 

Surety, 176 Wn.2d at 880, ~ 13. USAA's obligation to defend fully 

and in good faith is the price it pays for avoiding the harsh 

consequences that Washington law imposes upon an insurer that 

abandons its insured. See National Surety, 176 Wn.2d at 880, ~ 13; 

Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 387-88. 

Conversely, Dr. Geyer, who was told that USAA would 

"investigate, settle, or defend," his claim had the right to assume 

that USAA would be looking out for his interests, including 

exploring settlement with Mr. Speed's attorneys. Had USAA flatly 

denied him a defense and indemnity coverage, Dr. Geyer could have 

hired counsel, or negotiated directly with Mr. Speed to protect 

himself against the ruinous consequences of a felony conviction. 

A reservation of rights letter does not give an insurer a free 

pass to ignore its fundamental obligation to defend in good faith. 

The Court of Appeals decision undermines the duty to defend that 

this Court has scrupulously enforced since Tank. 
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2. The Court of Appeals published decision 
conflicts with established precedent 
imposing upon insurers the obligation to 
investigate and attempt settlement on 
terms favorable to its insured. 

An insurer's duty to defend a claim under a reservation of 

rights includes the duty to explore settlement on terms favorable to 

the insured. The Court of Appeals erroneously excused USAA's 

failure to defend or explore settlement at a time when Dr. Geyer 

was threatened with the loss of his livelihood on the basis of the 

trial court's finding years later that Mr. Speed's indemnity claim 

was not covered by USAA's policy. 

The Tank court imposed upon an insurer defending under a 

reservation of rights an "enhanced obligation" of good faith because 

of the "potential conflicts of interest between insurer and insured 

inherent in this type of defense." Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 387-88. In 

defending its insured, the insurer "must refrain from engaging in 

any action which would demonstrate a greater concern for the 

insurer's monetary interest than for the insured's financial risk." 

105 Wn.2d at 388. 

The duty of good faith reqmres an insurer to defend its 

insured irrespective of any coverage issues, and includes the duty to 

investigate, to provide defense counsel, and "an obligation at least 
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to conduct good faith settlement negotiations sufficient to ascertain 

the most favorable terms available and make an informed 

evaluation of the settlement demand." Truck Ins. Exchange of 

Farmers Ins. Group v. Century Indemn. Co., 76 Wn. App. 527,534, 

887 P.2d 455, rev. denied, 127 Wn.2d 1002 (1995); WPI 320.05; see 

Moratti, 162 Wn. App. at 504, ~ 13. "The flat refusal to negotiate, 

under circumstances of substantial exposure to liability, a 

demonstrated receptive climate for settlement, and limited 

insurance coverage may show lack of good faith." Hamilton v. State 

Farm Ins. Co., 83 Wn.2d 787, 794, 523 P.2d 193 (1974) (quotation 

omitted). As USAA conceded below (Resp. Br. 39 and CP 393 at p. 

54), USAA's duty to investigate and explore settlement arose not 

out of a duty to indemnify, but from its duty to defend Dr. Geyer in 

good faith. See Truck, 76 Wn. App. at 533-34· 

After issuing its reservation of rights letter, USAA focused its 

efforts on investigating coverage, at the expense of its insured's 

defense. Even though USAA's policies "both provided that USAA's 

duty to defend arose not only when a 'suit' was brought against the 

insured, but also when any 'claim' was made for damages arising 

from acts covered under the policies," (Op. ~ 18), USAA's adjusters 

failed to take any steps to defend Dr. Geyer under the mistaken 
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assumption "that it had no duty to defend until a lawsuit was filed." 

(Op. ~ 5) Mr. Speed had offered to seek a resolution of his claim 

that would protect Dr. Geyer from the devastating consequences of 

a felony conviction. However, USAA refused to explore any type of 

settlement, refused to determine whether Dr. Geyer would 

contribute his own assets, and refused to substantively respond to 

Mr. Speed's settlement offer, doing nothing more than 

acknowledging its receipt. (CP 566) 

An insurer defending under a reservation of rights cannot 

put its own interest in resolving the question of coverage ahead of 

its insured's interest in obtaining a vigorous defense. The Court of 

Appeals decision provides an incentive to insurers to ignore their 

insureds' interests while investigating coverage issues. Its

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