RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 29, 2014, 9:43 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 89972-0

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

43728-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT SPEED,

Petitioner,

v.

UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Irene M. Hecht, WSBA #11063 Maureen M. Falecki, WSBA #18569 Attorneys for Respondent United Services Automobile Association

KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, Washington 98101-3052 Telephone: (206) 623-1900 Facsimile No.: (206) 623-3384

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

[A]n accident is never present when a deliberate act in performed unless some additional unexpected, independent and unforeseen happening occurs which produces or brings about the result of injury or death. The means as well as the result must be foreseen, involuntary, unexpected and unusual.

(Op. ¶31), quoting Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 401, 823 P.2d 499 (1992), quoting Detweiler v. J.C. Penney Cas. Ins. Co., 110 Wn.2d 99, 104, 751 P.2d 282 (1998). As the Court of Appeals recognized, "Speed's demand letter unambiguously described Geyer's conduct as deliberate." (Op. ¶33) The letter claimed Geyer "beat Speed with his fists and a metal thermos," and admitted that "the case was aggravated by

Geyer's 'intentional conduct' and was not a case involving negligence." (Id.) "Even interpreting the allegations liberally and resolving doubts in favor of a duty to defend, the USAA homeowner's policy does not conceivably coverage the allegations in Speed's demand letter." (Id.) And, while Geyer may have claimed he acted in self-defense, this did not change the result because this Court has long held that "no accident exists even when the insured's deliberate conduct is performed in self-defense." (Op. ¶35), citing Grange Ins. Co. v. Brosseau, 113 Wn.2d 91, 96, 776 P.2d 123 (1989) (insured's claim that he acted in self-defense when intentionally causing bodily injury to another "in no way negates the deliberate nature of his act" and does not render his conduct an "accident"). Thus, the Court of Appeals properly held that USAA had no duty to defend the assault claim under its homeowner's policy as a matter of law, because the assault did not constitute an "accident" as the policy required. (Op. ¶36) Likewise, USAA, had no duty to defend the assault claim under its auto policy as a matter of law, because the assault did not constitute an "auto accident" as required by the terms of the auto policy. $(Op. ¶ 39)^4$

⁴ Speed's Petition for Review repeatedly mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals' well-reasoned and thorough analysis and application of the law to the facts. For instance, Speed claims that the Court of Appeals "conclude[ed], years after the fact, that because USAA had no contractual duty to indemnify, it had no duty to defend, investigate or explore settlement." (Petition at p.19) To the contrary, the Court of Appeals specifically stated that an indemnity determination is *irrelevant* to the existence of a duty to defend:

3. Because the Assault Claim Did Not Trigger USAA's Duty to Defend, USAA Had No Duty To Settle Or Indemnify, It Did Not Act In Bad Faith, And It Was Not Estopped To Deny Coverage.

The duty to attempt to settle arises out of the duty to defend. See, Truck Ins. Exch. v. Century Ins. Co., 76 Wn. App. 527, 533-34, 887 P.2d 455 (1995) (the duty to investigate settlement arises out of the duty to defend), rev. denied, 127 Wn.2d 1002 (1995). As the Court of Appeals here acknowledged, under certain circumstances, for instance, when the duty to defend is not in dispute, an insured is required to make reasonable efforts to pursue settlement. (Op. ¶44), citing Truck Ins. Exch., 76 Wn. App. at 534 (discussing the duty to explore settlement in a context where the duty to defend was not in dispute); and Moratti v. Farmers Ins. Co., 162 Wn. App. 495, 504, 254 P.3d 939 (2011), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1022, 272 P.3d 850 (2012) (no dispute that insurer had duty to defend, and therefore, it had a duty to attempt to settle). On the other hand, no Washington case holds that an insurer has a duty to explore settlement when the insurer has no duty to defend, and Speed failed to cite any such authority. (Op. ¶45)⁵

In addition, when an insurer has no duty to defend, it cannot be

[&]quot;whether or not a court subsequently finds no duty to indemnify is irrelevant to the existence of a duty to defend." (Op. ¶28)

⁵ Notwithstanding, USAA did attempt to settle Speed's claim when it offered \$25,000 despite the absence of a duty to defend or indemnify. (CP 897) Thus, Speed's assertion that USAA did not attempt to settle is not accurate.

found liable for bad faith failure to defend or attempt to settle. (Op. ¶46), citing *Wellman & Zuck, Inc. v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co.*, 170 Wn. App. 666, 677, 285 P.3d 892 (2012), *rev. denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1019, 297 P.3d 707 (2013) Likewise, Speed's estoppel claim failed for the same reason. (Op. ¶47), citing *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. T & G Constr. Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 255, 267, n.4, 199 P.3d 376 (2008) (in the absence of bad faith, coverage by estoppel does not apply).

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With Any Supreme Court Precedent.

Notably, Speed does not argue that the Court of Appeals improperly applied Washington precedent; nor does he argue that his assault claim, as alleged in his demand letter, if proven, could have conceivably been covered under the USAA policies. Instead, in an obvious attempt to create a conflict with Supreme Court precedent where none exists, Speed sidesteps the Court of Appeals' opinion entirely. He asserts instead, in a convoluted argument, that USAA "agreed" to defend Geyer upon notice of the claim, and that USAA was "uncertain" whether coverage existed and therefore, USAA had a duty to defend Geyer. Speed's assertions are both factually and legally inaccurate and must fail.

First, USAA did not agree to defend Geyer when the claim was first made, it only agreed to investigate coverage and liability, under a full reservation of rights. Second, Speed fails to cite to any Supreme Court decision holding that an agreement to investigate triggers a duty to defend. Third, USAA was never "uncertain" about coverage for the assault claim. Fourth, even assuming USAA was "uncertain" (which it was not) Speed fails to cite to any Supreme Court decision holding that when an insurer is "uncertain" as to coverage, its duty to defend is triggered. Finally, Speed's reliance on *Tank*, *National Surety*, *Woo* and *American Best Food* for his arguments is wholly flawed and entirely misplaced.

1. Actions Taken By An Insurer Under A Reservation Of Rights Do Not Trigger A Duty To Defend.

USAA did not "agree," "affirmatively represent" or "tell" Geyer that it would defend him or settle the claim when USAA first learned that Geyer had assaulted Speed, as Speed repeatedly and disingenuously tries to convince this Court.⁶ Instead, USAA agreed to *investigate* coverage and liability under a reservation of rights; a significant and undeniably crucial distinction. USAA had the right and the duty, under its policy and under Washington law, to investigate coverage when the claim was made and it did so under a reservation. *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 405, 229 P.3d 693 (2010) ("[t]he insurer is entitled to investigate the facts"). The very purpose of a reservation of rights letter is

⁶ Speed has never presented any testimony from Geyer to suggest that USAA agreed to defend him or that he believed or understood that USAA agreed to defend him.

to advise the insured that the insurer's conduct in investigating the claim is being done under a full reservation of rights and defenses, and therefore, actions taken under a reservation of rights are *not* an admission of any coverage, or of any duty to defend. Indeed, RCW 48.18.470(c) specifically provides that "investigating any loss or claim under any policy or engaging in negotiations looking toward a possible settlement of any such loss or claim" shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of any provision of a policy or of any defense of the insurer" under the policy. USAA's reservation of rights letter specifically stated that any actions undertaken by USAA *should* not be deemed to be a concession or admission that there was any coverage of any kind. (CP 781-82). USAA's conduct in investigating coverage and liability under a reservation of rights simply cannot be parlayed into an agreement to defend.⁷

More importantly, Speed has failed to cite to a single Washington Supreme Court decision holding that an offer to investigate coverage and

Moreover, Speed's assertion that USAA agreed to defend Geyer is nothing short of preposterous. As Speed is well aware, when the assault claim was made, USAA believed no duty to defend could be triggered until a lawsuit was actually filed against its insured alleging claims potentially covered under the terms of the insurance policies. (CP 523, 584-585; See, Speed's Brief of Appellant, at p. 8, citing CP 398 at p. 76-77). It defies logic to argue that USAA would have "agreed" to defend Geyer when USAA had this belief, whether mistaken or not. Likewise, Speed's assertion, without any support in the record, that "USAA's 'uncertainty' motivated USAA to affirmatively represent to Dr. Geyer that it was willing to "investigate, settle or defend" (Petition for Review, p. 13), at a time when USAA did not believe it had any such duties, defies logic and common sense.

liability under a reservation of all rights triggers an insurer's duty to defend. While he cites to Tank v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986), the issue in *Tank* was not whether the insurer's duty to defend was triggered. Rather, the insurer had agreed to defend under a reservation of rights and the Court was tasked with determining the parameters of an insurer's duty to defend when it agrees to defend under a reservation of rights. Id. at 384. Likewise, Speed's reliance on National Surety Corp. v. Immunex, 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.3d 688 (2013), is equally flawed. As in Tank, the Court in National Surety did not address a claim that an agreement to investigate coverage and liability under a reservation of rights triggers the insurer's duty to defend; instead, the issue before the Court was whether an insurer who defends under a reservation of rights, can recoup its defense costs when it is later determined that the insurer had no duty to defend. *Id.* at 891. Neither of these cases stand for the proposition that an offer to investigate coverage and liability constitutes an offer to defend, triggering a duty to defend.

2. An Insurer's Alleged Uncertainty as to Coverage Does Not Trigger a Duty to Defend under Washington Law.

It must first be noted that contrary to Speed's argument, at no time was USAA "uncertain" about coverage nor did USAA believe its policies

provided coverage for the assault claim. Instead, in an effort to determine if there were any facts that could potentially bring the claim within the coverage of its policies, USAA undertook to investigate, for Geyer's benefit. (CP 385, p.22, lines 3-5) But at every turn, all facts confirmed that the assault was an intentional, deliberate act, one that could not conceivably be covered by the USAA policies. While Speed cites to USAA's reservation of rights letter for his factual assertions, nothing in that letter establishes any admission of or uncertainty about coverage. Instead, that letter was clear: it told Geyer that an assault would not be covered and there was likely no coverage for Speed's assault claim under either policy because Speed was alleging that Geyer had intentionally and deliberately struck him in the head. (CP. 776-782) The letter also advised Geyer that any action by USAA under the reservation of rights could not be construed as a waiver or admission of any of its defenses or of any coverage. (CP 781-782)

Notwithstanding, even if USAA was "uncertain" about coverage, the Supreme Court has never held that an insurer's alleged subjective uncertainty triggers a duty to defend, or that an insurer *must* defend if it is uncertain about coverage. Speed's reliance on *Tank*, *National Surety*, *Woo*,

⁸Speed again mischaracterizes the facts and the Court of Appeals discussion regarding uncertainty, suggesting that the Court accepted Speed's assertion that USAA was "uncertain." It did not. Instead, the Court of Appeals clearly recognized that it was Speed's assertion *only* that USAA was "alleged[ly] uncertain." Op. ¶40.

and American Best Food, once again, is wholly misplaced. This Court explained in National Surety, 176 Wn.2d at 879, and in Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 161 Wn.2d 43, 54, 164 P.3d 454 (2007), that if an insurer is unsure about coverage, it may choose to defend under a reservation of rights and by defending under a reservation of rights, the insurer avoids breaching its duty to defend and claims of waiver or estoppel, should a court later find that insurer had a duty to defend. National Surety, 176 Wn.2d at 879 ("When an insured is uncertain of its duty to defend, it may defend under a reservation of rights while seeking a declaratory judgment relieving it of its duty to defend); Woo, 161 Wn.2d at 54 (defending under a reservation of rights allows the insurer to protect its interests without facing claims of waiver or estoppel and if a court finds no duty to defend, the insurer is free to walk away). The Court did not hold in either of these cases, that when an insurer is subjectively uncertain about its duty, it must defend.

Finally, American Best Food v. Alea London, Ltd., 168 Wn.2d 398, 408, 229, P.3d 693 (2010) is of no help to Speed. In that case, a legal uncertainty was at issue, not the insurer's alleged subjective uncertainty. The Court held that where a legal uncertainty exists as to a duty to defend or coverage, the insurer must defend. Id. at 408, 411. There, the insurer was unable to point to any Washington case law supporting its interpretation of an exclusion in its insurance policy, but case law in other jurisdictions

held the exclusion did not apply to preclude coverage under the facts presented. *Id.* at 408. Under those circumstances, the Court held that a *legal ambiguity* existed, coupled with an ambiguity in the policy, and that all ambiguities are to be construed in favor of the insured. *Id.* at 408, 411. Here, there was never a legal uncertainty as to whether Speed's assault claim could conceivably be covered under the USAA policies – it could not – and Speed has never argued to the contrary. Speed has thus failed to satisfy his burden of establishing that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with Washington Supreme Court precedent. Accordingly, his Petition for Review should be denied.

3. There Is No Duty To Attempt To Settle In The Absence Of A Duty To Defend.

Finally, Speed's argument in his Petition for Review that USAA had a duty to explore settlement is again premised on his flawed assertion that USAA had a duty to defend and/or was defending under a reservation of rights. He cites to *Moratti ex. Rel. Tarutis v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 162 Wn.

Further, as the Court of Appeals explained, determining whether a duty to defend exists is a question of law for the court to decide, based solely on the claim allegations asserted against the insured – here the assault allegations – and the terms of the insurance policy. (Op. ¶41), citing Woo, 161 Wn.2d at 52-53. As a result, "an insurer's alleged subjective beliefs have no place in the analysis." (Op. ¶43) To allow an insurer's alleged subjective uncertainty regarding coverage to trigger a duty to defend, "would conflict with the rule that insurance coverage cannot be created by equitable estoppel." (Op. ¶42), citing Shows v. Pemberton, 73 Wn. App. 107, 111, 868 P.2d 164 (1994)("'[U]nder no conditions can . . coverage or restrictions on the coverage be extended by the doctrine of waiver or estoppel.") (quoting Carew, Shaw & Bernasconi v. Gen. Cas. Co. of Am., 189 Wash. 329, 336, 65 P.2d 689 (1937).

App. 495, 503, 254 P.2d 939 (2011), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1022, cert. denied, 133 S.Ct. 198 (2012), but in that case, unlike here, the insurer had a duty to defend and therefore, it also had a duty to attempt to settle. See also, Hamilton v. State Farm Ins. Co., 83 Wn.2d 787, 523 P.2d 193 (1974) (addressing the parameters of an insurer's duty to settle where there was no dispute as to the duty to defend). Speed does not cite any legal authority imposing a duty to attempt to settle in the absence of a clear duty to defend. In short, his assertion that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Supreme Court precedent on this issue is simply not accurate.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly applied well-established Washington Supreme Court precedent to hold that USAA had no duty to defend, settle or indemnify Geyer for his intentional, deliberate assault on Speed. The Court of Appeals' opinion and conclusions do not conflict with any of the cases Speed cites in his Petition for Review. Speed has failed to satisfy his burden of establishing that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with any Supreme Court decision. Accordingly, the standard for accepting discretionary review set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(1) has not been met and the Petition for Review should be denied.